
 
 
 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Interested Parties 
 
FROM: John Schott, Sr. Project Manager 
 Northeast Maryland Waste Disposal Authority 
 
DATE: November 17, 2025 
 
RE: Addendum No. 1 to the Invitation for Bids (IFB) for City of Baltimore Residential 

Household Hazardous Waste Services 
 
The Authority is extending the BID DUE DATE / TIME to Friday, November 21, 2025, 4:00 
PM.  
 
There will not be a public bid opening. Unofficial results will be posted to the Authority’s  
website at www.nmwda.org within 10 business days. Bids, requests for withdrawals, and  
modifications not received by the time and at the location indicated will be deemed late and  
will not be considered. 
 
Responses to Questions received from interested vendors are set forth below. 
 

1.) How much notice will the City give for wanting Contractor to fully staff and host HHW? 
 
RESPONSE: City will provide Contractor at least 30 days’ notice for Contractor to fully 
staff the event(s). 

 
2.) On average how many cars/households participate in a collection event? 

 
RESPONSE: Car count varies. Below are the car counts from CY2025. 
 
May 2nd and May 3rd: 154 Cars 
June 6th and June 7th: 214 Cars 
July 11th and July 12th: 122 Cars 
August 1st and August 2nd: 237 Cars 
September 5th and September 6th: 141 Cars 
October 3rd and October 4th: 327 Cars 
 

410.333.2730 / authority@nmwda.org 
nmwda.org / Business-to-Business Recycling:  mdrecycles.org 
Tower II – Suite 402, 100 S. Charles Street, Baltimore, MD 21201-2705 
 
Comprehensive Waste Management Through Recycling, Reuse, Resource Recovery and Landfill 
 
MEMBERS:    
Karen Henry, Anne Arundel County / Vacant, Baltimore City / Anthony Russell, Jr., Baltimore County / Bryan Bokey, Carroll County   
Maria Monteiro-E-Pereira, Frederick County / Joseph J. Siemek, Harford County / Mark A. DeLuca, Howard County / Guillermo Wainer, Montgomery 
County / Charles Glass, Maryland Environmental Service / Andrew Kays, Executive Director 
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3.) Is the hazardous waste under this contract limited to materials identified as hazardous under 
RCRA? 
 
RESPONSE: Contractor will be expected to accept all waste identified in bid form. Bidder 
must provide prices for all items identified in the bid form. Bidder may add additional items 
to bid form but there is no guarantee that the City will accept the additional item(s) at their 
HHW events. Attached is a list of material accepted at prior HHW events (“Sisson HHW 
Days – April 2025 – June 2025”) 
 

4.) Is there a defined requirement for number of chemists per car? 
 
RESPONSE: There is no defined requirement for number of chemists per car. 
 

5.) For shippable quantity, is there certain quantity that they consider it be shippable? 
 
RESPONSE: There is no minimum quantity. Contractor shall provide appropriate 
resources including transportation equipment for the volume of HHW received at the 2-day 
events. Contractor shall provide the transportation resources to remove all HHW from the 
City’s site in one business day after the 2-day event. Within two (2)  business days from the 
end of the Drop-off Day, the Contractor shall restore the site to its original condition. 
 

6.) Can it be mutual termination with 60 days’ notice? 
 
RESPONSE: No. 
 

7.) Will they be providing volumes of waste for lump sum? 
 
RESPONSE: See attached invoices to estimate volume. Attached are pictures of the last 
event. 
 

8.) RFP indicates bid will be awarded to lowest bidder. How will that be determined given there 
are no quantities on bid sheet? 
 
RESPONSE: See attached invoices for estimating volumes. Bid responses and available 
City documentation, including attached invoices, will be used in the evaluation process. 
 

9.) Do vendors have to price both options in bid form? 
 
RESPONSE: Yes. 
 

10.) Who will package materials during collection events? 
 
RESPONSE: The Contractor will be expected to provide pickup (including packaging, 
loading transportation, and recycling/disposal)) of the HHW after the City hosted HHW 
Drop-Off Events. 
 

11.) Does vendor provide packing supplies ahead of time?  
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RESPONSE:  The Contractor is expected to coordinate with the City prior to the events and 
provide the necessary packaging for loading and transportation. This includes providing 
packing supplies prior to event, if needed. 
 

12.) Will all materials be packaged ready for pickup after events? 
 
REPONSE: No. The Contractor will be responsible for providing the packing for the 
transportation. 
 

13.) How will decision be made as to which option will be chosen? 
 
RESPONSE: The award will be based upon the lowest Total Bid amount and be awarded 
to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder for the services required. See response to 
Question 8 above. 
 

14.) How many personnel are required to staff a typical two-day event? 
 
RESPONSE:  See response to Question 5 above.   If Contractor is staffing the event, assume 
10-14 people per 2-day event. 
 

15.) All disposal pricing is “per pound” basis. Can minimum charges be added? 
 
RESPONSE: No minimum charges are allowed under contract. 
 

16.) What are the hours the collection events are open per day? 
 
RESPONSE: See link: Household Hazardous Waste Collection | Baltimore City Department 
of Public Works 
 

17.) How many cars are typically serviced per day of two-day event? 
 
RESPONSE: See response to Question 2 above. 
   

18.) Do you accept non-residential entities, ex: libraries, schools, DPW, or other VSQG/SQG/LQG 
of any kind? If so, please reference previous business/entity examples from prior collections. 
 
RESPONSE: See response to Question 3 above. 
   

19.) Since last event of prior contract, has the City generated any material that the vendor is 
expected to take on the first collection? If so, please reference contents. Photos acceptable. 
 
RESPONSE: See response to Question 3 above.  
 

20.) Do these events accept drummed waste? Ex: 55G oil, 55G antifreeze, 55G 
gasoline/kerosene/etc.? 
 
RESPONSE: See response to Question 3 above. 
  

https://publicworks.baltimorecity.gov/events/household-hazardous-waste-collection
https://publicworks.baltimorecity.gov/events/household-hazardous-waste-collection
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21.) Do you allow cylinders/cartridges other than Helium, Propane and Fire Extinguishers? Ex: 
Freon, Oxygen, Acetylene, Part A & B foam cylinders, BB-Gun CO2 cartridges, soda stream 
cylinders, etc. 
 
RESPONSE: See response to Question 3 above. 
  

22.) In the interest of understanding volumes generated to prepare competitive pricing. Are you 
able to provide all manifests/continuation sheets from prior contract? If no, can a copy of the 
manifest/continuation sheets from just the last pickup be provided as a volume reference? 
 
RESPONSE: See attached invoices. 
  

23.) How many employees is current incumbent providing during collection days? If Baltimore 
is providing labor instead of the vendor, how much staffing? 
 
RESPONSE: Baltimore City staffs 8-10 people for these events. 
 

24.) Do you accept unknown material without labels? 
 
RESPONSE: No. Unidentifiable items will not be accepted at drop-off events. 
 

25.) Do you accept lab-grade chemicals if brought in by residents from previous occupations? 
I.e. Thermo Fisher Scientific, Sigma Aldrich, etc. 
 
RESPONSE: See response from Question 3 above. 
   

26.) In the event unacceptable waste under this contract is received by the city, what rates will be 
utilized for final disposal? Would a price quote be generated by the vendor at the end of the 
collection? 
 
RESPONSE: Contractor is obligated to accept all items identified in the IFB and 
Contractor’s Bid. There will be no additional costs for accepting waste (identified as 
unacceptable or acceptable). 
 

27.) Page 7 references no subcontractors. However, page 8 requests copies of MBE/WBE 
documents. Please confirm if there is a MBE/WBE requirement on the contract. If so, what 
%?  
 
RESPONSE: If using subcontractors, identify the subcontractors in bid response. Please 
provide copies of current Minority Business Enterprise (MBE)/Women Business 
Enterprise (WBE) certification documents, as applicable. 
 

28.) Does this contract require Certificates of Disposal? If yes, are TSDF copies acceptable? 
 
RESPONSE: Contractor shall keep accurate records of materials received and shall 
provide documentation to the City on transportation, disposal and/or recycling (such as 
manifests and shipping papers) immediately upon acceptance of the waste in a permitted 
facility. This also includes TSDF copies, if requested from the City. 
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29.) If yes to the above, are COD required for payment? 

 
RESPONSE: See IFB, Section XI. Payment. 
 

30.) Is this contract prevailing wage? If yes, please specify reference to the living wage 
requirement. 
 
RESPONSE: There is a living wage requirement for this contract,  
Please see 2025 Notice of Living Wage.pdf. 
 

31.) If yes to the above, are copies of certified payroll required for payment? 
 
RESPONSE: See response to Question 30 above. 
 

32.) Who is the current incumbent? 
 
RESPONSE: Clean Harbors. 
 
 

 
 
 
Attachment 
 
 
 
 
 

https://civilrightsequity.baltimorecity.gov/sites/default/files/2025%20%20Notice%20of%20Living%20Wage.pdf

